

Analysing Türkiye's Return Policies and the Role of UNHCR Towards Syrian Refugees: A Biopolitical Perspective

Okan Kaymak

MA in Migration Studies Dissertation
University of Sussex
2023



Table of Contents

Al	bstract	2
A	cknowledgements	3
1.	Introduction	4
2.	Literature Review	6
3.	Theoretical Framework	9
	3.1 Foucauldian Perspectives On Biopower	9
	3.2 Return Policies from the Lens of Biopolitics	12
4.	Methodology	13
	4.1 Data Collection	14
	4.2 Analytical Approach	15
5.	Background	16
6.	Return Policies of Türkiye Concerning Syrian Refugees	18
	6.1 Creating a Safe Zone	19
	6.2 Go and See Approach	22
	6.3 Legal Regulations	24
7.	Role Of UNHCR in Refugee Return	26
	7.1 UNHCR's Challenges in Syrian Refugees' Return in Türkiye: Coordination and Contradictions	27
8.	Conclusion	30
9.	Bibliography	33

Abstract

The notion of biopower pertains to the regulation and governance of populations by state and institutional authorities, providing a means to influence migration flows and outcomes within borders. Türkiye¹ has long been actively engaged in providing humanitarian aid and hosting the largest population of Syrian refugees (SR). However, the extended presence of SR in Türkiye has raised concerns about its impact on the country's socio-cultural and economic consequences, prompting discussions on the feasibility of their return as a viable solution. That being the case, Türkiye has adopted biopower strategies, including the creating of a safe zone, the go-and-see approach, and legal measures. This research employs critical policy analysis to examine Türkiye's use of return strategies and its influence on SR' return. In tandem with the biopolitical analysis, the study investigates the role of UNHCR (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees) in shaping and implementing return policies. It evaluates UNHCR's normative stance and operational constraints within the context of Türkiye's return policies. The study also reveals the intricate web of power dynamics that underpin these policies, while examining the pragmatic realities that influence UNHCR's role. This research advances our understanding of how biopolitics intersect with refugee management, and the findings offers valuable insights into the complex realities of managing refugee populations, underscore the tensions between security-driven motives and humanitarian aspirations within a geopolitically sensitive landscape.

-

¹At the behest of Turkey, the United Nations modified the foreign denomination of the nation, altering it from "Turkey" to "Türkiye." Since December 2021, Turkey has been adopting "Türkiye" rather than "Turkey" as its designation on international platforms. Thus, in this paper, the term "Türkiye" will be employed in lieu of "Turkey."

Acknowledgements

I extend my sincere gratitude to **Dr. Ceri Oeppen** for her invaluable guidance, and to **Dr. Ali Ali**, for their unique inspiration and thought-provoking perspectives that have significantly influenced this study.

I offer my heartfelt thanks to **Mrs. Meredith Mix** for ensuring my presence. I am deeply appreciative of my close friend, **Mohammad Qasim Mirzaye**, for his insightful contributions. I would like to express my gratitude to my friends from Türkiye, **Abdulsamet Korkusuz**, **Gökhan Gözübek**, and **Emre Örs.** They have not only facilitated my pursuit of a master's degree but have also provided invaluable support during my time in the UK.

I reserve special appreciation for **my family**, particularly **my grandmother**, for their unwavering support and inspiration in my pursuit of excellence. I also acknowledge the contributions of others, and I apologize for not listing each name individually. They have all played a significant role in shaping this dissertation, and I am truly grateful for their unwavering encouragement.

1. Introduction

The global influx of refugees into host countries has instigated an atmosphere of uncertainty, causing a fracture in the bond between citizens and their respective states. This phenomenon has led to formidable challenges for both the refugee population and the host communities (Gallagher, 1994, p. 449). As many countries in the Global North refrain from collaborative responsibility-sharing, this empowers refugee-hosting states to independently determine the fate of refugees (Cassarino, 2004; Hansen, 2018, p. 145), thereby rendering the return of displaced individuals a pivotal element within the realm of global refugee governance (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2808-2809). Previously, return policies were primarily associated with forced displacement, founded on the assumption that those displaced would naturally yearn to return to their places of origin at the earliest convenience. However, the situation did not always align with the prevailing perception, then the management of return migration has now emerged as a significant facet within the broader framework of migration management (Fakhoury and Mencütek, 2023, p. 960), and has evolved into a pivotal and highly politicized component within the intricate landscape of global migration dynamics (Zetter, 2021, p. 10).

The policy of return in this context is intricately intertwined with key policy domains encompassing security, domestic politics, welfare in the host country, and the broader prospects of peace, security, and development in the home country. These intricate factors collectively influence policy makers and political actors (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2804), resulting in a complex and unpredictable decision-making process (Amnesty International, 2017). In the realm of return policy administration, countries employ biopolitical tactics to decide on the inclusion or exclusion of individuals within their boundaries, often overlooking refugees' humanitarian requirements and denying them protection and residency privileges (Davitti, 2018, p. 1181). Biopolitics encompasses diverse manifestations of disciplinary authority utilized by nation-states to adeptly manage their populations through distinct institutions and techniques (Adams, 2017).

This exercise of regulatory power is especially evident within Türkiye's circumstances, as the country is the global leader in hosting refugees, with a population of approximately 3.5 million SR. The prolonged and devastating Syrian conflict has propelled one of the most severe refugee crises in contemporary history, compelling millions of Syrians to seek refuge and safety in Türkiye (UNHCR, 2023b). From the onset of the Syrian humanitarian crisis, Türkiye has executed a policy of welcoming those seeking refuge by adopting an open-door approach (Dora,

2020, p. 508). SR were categorized by Turkish policy-makers as "guests" in technical terms rather than being labeled as refugees. Türkiye granted to Temporary Protection (TP) to them, a status that guarantees protection against return and imposes no time restrictions on their stay in Türkiye (Nielsen, 2016, p. 100).

Yet, the attitudes of Turkish citizens towards SR have grown increasingly unfavorable over time, primarily driven by apprehensions related to socio-cultural and economic consequences (Kınıklıoglu, 2020, p. 4). Similar to a guest who has extended their stay beyond the anticipated duration, the Turkish society has grown progressively restless and uneasy regarding the numerous privileges accorded to these 'guests', including access to education and healthcare. Syrians were no longer perceived merely as victims of a devastating civil war; instead, they were viewed as individuals unsettling societal tranquility and exploiting the Turkish government's provisions (Nielsen, 2016, p. 102). Given the strains between the Turkish and Syrian communities, policymakers in Türkiye perceived that the existing refugee policy could result in political ramifications (Ertan, 2022), consequently catapulting discussions surrounding the feasibility of their return as a resolution (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 420). This complex scenario has engendered a formidable predicament for the Turkish government, demanding a nuanced approach to refugee return management.

This paper aims to comprehensively investigate Türkiye's utilization of biopower strategies to manage the SR' population. Additionally, it delves into the extent of UNHCR's involvement in shaping the return process for SR in Türkiye. This central research objective is supported by several key sub-questions: What factors drive Türkiye's return policies, and how do they implement specific biopower strategies? Given UNHCR's role in refugee return, how is their functionality in SR' return in Türkiye? To address these inquiries, a critical policy analysis approach is employed, utilizing a variety of sources including academic articles, official policy documents, international agency reports, and reputable news websites to assess Türkiye's return policies.

The paper commences with a literature review, offering insight into the historical evolution of biopower strategies and concept of return policies as a biopolitical maneuver, predominantly examining instances related to SR within the Turkish context. Subsequently, the theoretical framework is introduced, providing the return policies applied to refugees, asserting the necessity of appraising these policies through a biopolitical lens. The methodology section outlines the critical policy analysis approach adopted. This segues into a background section,

presenting an overview of Türkiye's public opinion towards refugees leading up to the return of SR, along with UNHCR's role in refugee return.

The following two chapters provide an exposition of the study's discoveries. The initial chapter examines the patterns and themes that emerge from biopower strategies and the associated return migration context. It delves into Türkiye's chosen strategies and tools for return policies, emphasizing trends, critiques, and effectiveness. This segment draws from government reports, analyses by political experts, trustworthy policy news outlets, and reports from non-governmental organizations to unearth findings. The subsequent chapter closely examines the significant role played by UNHCR in the return process, utilizing UNHCR documents and scholarly papers as sources.

This study adopts an approach that centers on Türkiye's return strategies without delving into the individual factors that shape the return inclinations of SR or the circumstances of their voluntary or forced return. The amalgamated results of paper serve as a basis for contemplating the repercussions of these return policies on the Syrian refugee crisis. The paper culminates by summarizing the fundamental research objectives, outlining the analytical methodology employed, addressing encountered constraints, and unveiling pivotal discoveries. Prospects for future research directions are also suggested.

2. Literature Review

Despite the distinct evolution of the academic study of international migration within political science disciplines, it remains indisputable that state policies wield a substantial influence in shaping migration flows and outcomes (Brettell and Hollifield, 2014, p. 227). Migration has served as an indicator of geopolitical trends, encompassing displacement and containment strategies, underscoring that the concept of state-managed immigration is not novel. However, the interpretations of migration and shifts in predominant geopolitical discourses have undergone alterations across varying periods and spaces (Hyndman, 2012, p. 243). Building on this foundation, states are enacting measures that marginalize and limit the geographical mobility of refugees (Amnesty International Report, 2023, p. 15), including managing their populace, controlling entry to job markets and public resources, and upholding internal security (Adamson, 2006).

Foucault's concept of biopower (1978) offers valuable insights into understanding the strategies employed by governments to manage and control populations in situations of crisis, such as

refugee influxes. In essence, biopower can be comprehended as a political mindset focused on the governance of life and populations. This concept involves techniques that regulate the bodies and behaviors of individuals to ensure the functioning and stability of the state (Engels, 2016, p. 300). Consequently, diverse immigrant populations give rise to distinct geopolitical techniques, resulting in a variety of biopolitical approaches.

Within this framework, for instance, Lisa Bhungalia (2012) employing Foucault's concept of biopower, examines strategies for managing populations in the Gaza Strip following Israel's apparent "withdrawal" from the region, unveiling a more intricate management involving the modulation of life-sustaining and life-disrupting flows as they enter and exit the region. She links mobility to the methods by which human existence is activated, curtailed, or negated. From a different perspective, Michael Collyer (2012) interlinks geopolitics and biopolitics while investigating the role of deportation as a fundamentally biopolitical mechanism for the global management of populations, specifically focusing on the expulsion of Sri Lankans from the UK. Collyer scrutinizes the growing obligations of "receiving countries" to accept immigrants from the UK and the evolving tactics of the deportation process, subsequently fostering increased diplomatic negotiations.

Given Türkiye's geopolitical context through a biopolitical lens, the manner in which Türkiye enacts a return policy to facilitate the return of SR to their home countries emerges as a pivotal query in need of resolution. It can be asserted that the Turkish government has employed biopolitical approach capable of influencing the population patterns of SR. This approach diverges from the initial Türkiye's policy during the onset of the Syrian crisis, which has endured for several years, has compelled a substantial number of Syrians to seek refuge in Türkiye (UNHCR, 2023b).

The protracted nature of the conflict led to extended stays for many SR in Türkiye, contributing to the emergence of a refugee population that requires comprehensive support and protection measures (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 418), posing significant challenges to the country's welfare, socio-culture and public order (Kınıklıoglu, 2020, p. 2; Kaya *et al.*, 2021, p. 187; Ertan, 2022). Turkish society has witnessed the emergence of anti-immigrant attitudes, as the duration of their presence extended (Koca, 2016, p. 73; Yavuz, 2021), prompting discussions on return policies (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 420; Mencutek, 2022, p. 54). While Türkiye faces the challenge of balancing domestic, regional, international, ethnicity, and safety politics further complicate the return discussions in the region (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 425).

These unfolding events, combined with the temporary protection status granted to Syrians (TRP, 2014), created complexities in altering their population movement. Additionally, the Turkish public sentiment regarding SR exerted influence on the government to initiate their return. As a consequence of political motivations arising from the majority's demand (Ertan, 2022), the focus on the return of SR within Türkiye has become increasingly prominent and accentuated (Şahin-Mencütek *et al.*, 2023, p. 119). As a result, Türkiye launched the "National Strategy on the Voluntary Return and Reintegration of Syrian Nationals" to facilitate their return (PMM, 2023a). According to Turkish Foreign Affairs (MFA) over 550,000 SR have returned to Syria from Türkiye since 2016 (MFA, 2023a).

The academic literature surrounding the return of SR in Türkiye demonstrate the complex and multidimensional nature of the refugee crisis. Although return often emerges as the preferred durable solution to address the refugee protection in the international refugee regime among three primary approaches: integration, resettlement in a third country, and return to the country of origin (Gallagher, 1994, p. 429), refugees' displacement and responses are intertwined with critical aspects of refugee protection (Betts and Loescher, 2011). Returning to Syria is not without its challenges. SR are confronted with limited and unsatisfactory choices and they essentially have three alternatives: returning to Syria, enduring a life of uncertainty in host countries, or embarking on a perilous journey to Europe (Yahya, 2017). The hardships endured during their departure, coupled with the continued existence of a regime accused of committing crimes against humanity, greatly complicates their ability to return (Yahya, Kassir and El-Hariri, 2018, p. 53).

Among the factors influencing the decision to return, safety and security stand out as of paramount importance, particularly in the case of SR in Türkiye (El Gantri and El Mufti, 2017, p. 4). In September, the UN Syria Investigation Commission once again reached the conclusion that Syria is not a safe environment for people to return to (Human Rights Watch, 2022). Furthermore, several reports issued by global organizations have concluded that existing circumstances make the return of SR to their homeland unattainable, leading to deep concerns about uncertainties for themselves and their children (Nebehay, 2017).

Nevertheless, as a key international actor in refugee protection, UNHCR plays a crucial role in managing the return (UNHCR, 2023a). Although more than half million SR have opted to return to their homeland in Türkiye (MFA, 2023a), the involvement of UNHCR in facilitating returns has been complex, given the challenging conditions and safety concerns in Syria. On this basis, there is limited understanding of how host countries, countries of origin, non-state actors, and

refugees collaborate and compete in governing returns across different geopolitical contexts, in particular in the context of SR in Türkiye. Similarly, we have limited knowledge of how these dynamic factors of attraction and repulsion influence the conditions, practices, and timelines that shape the process of returns in Türkiye (Fakhoury and Mencütek, 2023, p. 960). Over half a million SR in Türkiye have undertaken return, which contrasts with the focus of international organizations on the improved safeguarding of Syrians within Türkiye.

The noteworthy statistics related to the return of SR have prompted an investigation into the formulation and implementation of Türkiye's return strategies. Within a biopolitical framework, this is especially relevant when considering whether Türkiye's biopolitical strategies potentially mold the dynamics of the SR' population. This research gap underscores the importance of conducting further studies and analysis to comprehend the motivations of Turkish policy-maker and its impact on SR. Türkiye's return policies encompass various measures aimed at managing their potential return and gaining insights into the factors driving return among SR in Türkiye and implementing essential support and protection measures are vital steps in addressing the continuous refugee crisis. Additionally, questions arise concerning the extent of UNHCR's influence in managing the return process amidst Türkiye's domestic policies and the broader dynamics of regional geopolitics.

Moving forward, further research is necessary to better comprehend the motivations and experiences of Syrian returnees and to develop effective support and protection measures in addressing the ongoing refugee crisis in the region. By understanding and addressing the political factors, Türkiye can play a critical role in facilitating a sustainable return process for SR, contributing to regional stability and humanitarian responsibility. This academic introduction sets the stage for further research and analysis, aiming to shed light on the intricate interplay of biopower strategies shaping the return of SR in Türkiye.

3. Theoretical Framework

3.1 Foucauldian Perspectives On Biopower

Throughout an extended period, the conventional understanding of power revolved around the notion of "the sovereign's authority to determine life and death." Power was wielded by the ruling monarch, who possessed the prerogative to determine the fate of his subjects, including their lives and deaths (Foucault, 1978, p. 135). Foucault's perspective highlights the 18th century as a pivotal era, when states began to consider the population as an object of biopolitical

concern, managing aspects such as birth, death, health, disease, race, and sexuality to sustain life. The emergence of biopower led to a shift from "the right to take life or let it live" to the authority to promote life or prevent it from persisting until death (Foucault, 1978, p. 138). Consequently, state actions extend beyond legal strategies, incorporating methods focused on enhancing the quality of life for the population. The attainment of biopower empowers the state to construct social classifications and consequently shape a compliant society that secures a 'vital population' (Roach, 2009, p. 157) - a community endorsing an ideology that bolsters and justifies the state, molding it as desired.

This innovative power framework emerges with distinct methodologies, entirely fresh tools, and a distinct array of apparatus. The core purpose of this power mechanism lies in fostering, cultivating, and disseminating effective strategies or capacities for regulating and overseeing all aspects of existence. For instance, Foucault accentuates that the primary function of this power is "to elicit, consolidate, monitor, optimize, and organize the forces beneath it": a power that is oriented towards generating, amplifying, and governing forces rather than being exclusively designed to hinder, suppress, or obliterate them (Foucault, 1978). This novel authority governing life is encapsulated by Foucault as "biopower". Through biopower, individuals adhering to societal norms are preserved and invested in, while those labeled as 'abnormal' may be marginalized through the withdrawal of support and simultaneously subjected to legal force (Foucault, 1978, p. 144).

Foucault's conceptualization of biopower delineates the governance and control of human life both at the individual body level and within the broader population, representing a type of authority directed towards the populace (Rogers, Castree and Kitchin, 2013, p. 48). This framework proves valuable by linking identity to authority and elucidating how societal classifications are employed for legislating and authorizing state actions, particularly on specific matters. Biopower is characterized by two contrasting power dimensions - the disciplinary control over individual bodies and the biopolitical strategies governing entire populations. Disciplinary power shapes "docile bodies" that can be subdued, utilized, transformed, and healed (in settings like schools, prisons, and hospitals) (Foucault, 1978, p. 136), whereas biopolitical power "governs life" (Foucault, 1978, p. 138), aiming to foster the well-being of populations (Foucault, 1978, p. 139). Biopolitical regimes also partake in dividing practices that establish hierarchies within populations. As an instance, racism is identified by Foucault as a systemic form of division deeply integrated into the biopolitical era.

While Foucault lays the foundational understanding of biopower, Giogio Agamben (1998) extends Foucault's notions of biopower and biopolitics (Srinivasan, Kasturirangan and Driessen, 2020, p. 340), asserting their presence beyond the modern era; he contends that this principle pervades Western intellectual history. He traces back to Aristotle, spotlighting the distinction between "polis" and "zoe." Essentially, he posits that biopower and biopolitics emerge when biological life transitions into the sphere of politics, thereby initiating a trajectory of development. Agamben's trajectory eventually leads him to the contention that all forms of power can be classified as biopower, given their role in creating circumstances of "state of exception," sovereignty's totalitarian control, where individuals hold the authority to decide who lives and who perishes (Agamben, 1998).

In the pre-modern context, monarchs were beyond legal constraints, exempt from the rules that governed the common populace. Essentially, they represented an exception at one end of the spectrum of vulnerability. Conversely, this power could establish exceptions at the opposite end, a classification of entities that could be subjected to harm or death without contravening the law. These marginalized exceptions are like reflections of the sovereign's supremacy. While historical monarchs could employ absolute authority to suppress challenges to their power, modern rulers exploit population-controlling surveillance technologies to render entire communities as exceptions, as seen in instances like the Nazi concentration camps. This camps function as the physical and conceptual platforms for biopolitical intervention and represent the spatial embodiment of biopolitical norms, where the ruler transforms political existence (bios) into mere bare life (zoe), which can be terminated without legal violation (Foucault, 1978; Agamben, 1998). Through the confinement of an entire population or a segment of it, the camp becomes a biopolitical space characterized by extreme exceptional violence (Srinivasan, Kasturirangan and Driessen, 2020, p. 341).

Apart from the Nazi camps, there are various research studies elucidating how biopolitics manifests itself in the contemporary global context. Case in point, Lisa Bhungalia's (2012) scrutiny of the biopower strategy for population control in Gaza, where the idea of population mobility is interconnected with biopolitical strategies that shape the potential life prospects of individuals within a specified area. Another illustration can be found in Collyer's (2012) research concentrates on dimension of deportation, expanding on studies that perceive deportation as an essentially biopolitical process within the governance of populations.

3.2 Return Policies from the Lens of Biopolitics

While states have engaged in both multilateral and bilateral relations and ratified joint conventions and agreements to manage immigrant populations globally, the actual implementation of these agreements has often been slow and disproportionately enforced among different nations. Consequently, there is a growing adoption of power technologies by governments, especially in Western countries, to exert control over migrants (Nyers, 2003). These power technologies manifest as deportation practices, detention centers, and restricted access to job opportunities, healthcare, housing, and education, with the aim of marginalizing migrants (Tyler, 2006). Simultaneously, humanitarian efforts, despite their apolitical nature, tend to reduce human life to a state of "bare life" (Agamben, 1998), a life that can be easily endangered in foreign territories. This concept of "bare life" is closely associated with vulnerable immigrants residing on international borders more than any other demographic group (Ticktin, 2006).

Refugees are frequently depicted as a disruptive element challenging the traditional framework of the sovereign state system, and their arrival has the potential to impact and reshape the state's structure, especially in times of crisis. States tend to view refugees as issues requiring state intervention and resolution (Foucault, 1984), thus adopting return policies (Van Hear and Crisp, 1998, p. 8). The global refugee framework has evolved from granting long-term asylum in foreign countries to providing temporary protection within "safe zones" located near specific border regions within the refugees' countries of origin (Macey, 2022, p. 1475). These safe zones aim to dissuade refugees from crossing international borders by creating secure areas within their home countries (Hyndman, 2003, p. 169). Additionally, they serve the purpose of enabling the return of refugees who have already crossed into neighboring countries (Chimni, 2004, p. 73).

Safe zones are not only practical measures for safeguarding refugees but also powerful political and diplomatic tools employed within the realm of international politics (Turan, 2021, p. 55). Foucault denotes these actions as technologies of governance or technologies of power. The fundamental logic underlying these governmental tools of power is not solely to expel the migrant population from the area, but rather to bolster and uphold the socio-economic and political welfare of the composite body (citizens) (Foucault, 1978). It is crucial to note that these zones often encompass broader contextual dynamics that extend beyond this initial definition, although safe zones are traditionally defined as areas created to safeguard civilians

during armed conflicts and mass refugee movements (Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 11-12). The justification for returns to safe zones is often rooted in an illusion of "security," leading to ongoing debates surrounding their suitability under varying conditions (Long, 2013b, p. 472).

In this context, the most efficient and preferred method to achieve this goal is by closely monitoring and controlling the influx of immigrants into their nation. The exclusion and regulation of immigrants are considered necessary measures aimed at ensuring the safety and stability of the societal framework. For instance, deportation serves the purpose of removing undocumented immigrants and acts as a deterrent for potential asylum seekers and those without proper documentation (Gibney and Hansen, 2003). In theory, any undocumented immigrant can be subject to deportation by the state, although not all individuals can be forcibly returned to their country of origin in practice (Paoletti, 2010, p. 13). This strategy reinforces the constitutionally granted rights of citizenship, encompassing access to employment and social services. These actions, encompassing practices like deportation and visa denial, are more closely aligned with the concept of "biopower" (Foucault, 1978). Biopower concerns itself with "the well-being of the population, enhancing its circumstances, augmenting its prosperity, longevity, health, and so forth" (Lemke, 2015, p. 100).

In essence, the key biopolitical reasoning revolves around the idea that if immigrants pose a threat to the collective well-being and communal welfare, their exclusion becomes necessary to protect the overall welfare of the nation. Consequently, the refusal of immigrants is justified as a means of preserving the stability and prosperity of the societal structure. The analysis of immigrant populations serves as a unique subject of study primarily to establish a more nuanced perspective and understanding of contemporary sovereignty and the state's exercise of biopower. Therefore, amidst the various conflicting perspectives that significantly contribute to the ongoing discourse and knowledge frameworks concerning refugee return policies, examining these approaches from a biopolitical standpoint will enrich our understanding of governmental strategies for return.

4. Methodology

This academic dissertation seeks to examine Türkiye's return policy through a biopolitical lens, shedding light on its motivations and strategies in managing the SR' populations. Concurrently, the role of UNHCR introduces complexities that underscore the challenges of reconciling humanitarian obligations with political realities. As the international community pursues lasting solutions to the Syrian refugee crisis, adopting a holistic approach that considers the interplay

of biopolitics, state interests, and humanitarian imperatives is crucial for formulating effective and ethical return policies.

4.1 Data Collection

To address the main research questions explored in this dissertation, three Türkiye's return policies were chosen as the primary subjects for data analysis. These policies include the creation of a safe zone, the "go and see" approach, and the introducing of legal instruments. While Türkiye possesses alternative return policies, the rationale for focusing on these specific three lies in their capacity to drive significant returns. The first two policies work in tandem, reinforcing each other, and the third policy acts as a supportive element to the overall repatriation strategy.

Firstly, the creation of safe zones aimed to address the security concerns of SR in their homeland. Secondly the "go and see" policy represents the return policy introduced and implemented by the Turkish government between 2016 and 2019. This policy complements the creation of safe zones and functions as a novel and ad hoc measure. These two policies are interconnected and interlocking, leading to changes in the architecture of SR in Türkiye, as they facilitated and supported their return to their home country. Lastly, in addition to these policies, the government introduced new regulations that played a crucial role in shaping and regulating the SR' population. Consequently, these policies constitute pertinent case studies for investigating the utilization of biopower strategies aimed at controlling and regulating SR within Türkiye's borders.

Around 90 to 110 primary sources were thoroughly examined, encompassing official government policy documents, legislative analyses, reports issued by international organizations, and articles penned by political experts, all focusing on the three identified policies. This collection of documents also encompasses policy declarations from the Turkish government, operational guidelines, and public declarations. Access to all Turkish documents was obtained through official government websites and digital archives, such as the Ministry of Interior, the Presidency of Migration Management (PMM), and the Turkish Ministry of Foreign Affairs. In order to pinpoint applicable materials concerning the initiation and execution of the three policies, I primarily employed Google Scholar, Scopus, and the Sussex University library. I directed my search towards documents that were published subsequent to 2015. This choice was influenced by the fact that discussions regarding the return of Syrians had started to gain momentum since 2015.

In addition to these documents, I have incorporated findings from two survey research studies conducted by UNHCR and the University of Bilgi to show Turkish public opinion towards SR and obtain a comprehensive understanding of the motivations and drivers behind the return policies. Certain official documents were obtained and examined in Turkish, subsequently being translated and interpreted by me. Meanwhile, other documents were directly acquired and analyzed in their official English versions.

4.2 Analytical Approach

The data analysis was conducted using a critical approach to policy analysis. This interpretative methodology delves into the explicit objectives of a policy and its broader implications. It views policy making as a fundamentally political activity influenced by beliefs, thoughts, and disputes (Yanow, 2000; Am, 2020). Therefore, it is essential to acknowledge that the information in datasets is shaped by specific actors within the broader political context. Consequently, the information officially announced and particularly included in the policy makers' analysis is regarded as a framework that necessitates interpretation and critique, rather than being accepted as an objective, empirical truth. This approach to policy analysis proves to be convenient and valuable in analyzing data as it provides an interpretative evaluation of aspects such as the adopted biopower strategies, key actors, targeted populations, and the impetuses underpinning policies.

Data analysis was conducted using a qualitative analysis (Busetto, Wick and Gumbinger, 2020) focuses on understanding the employing of biopower strategies, influential agents and targeted populations in the context of Türkiye's policies concerning SR' return. Through an interpretive lens that presents contrasting viewpoints while avoiding personal biases, the analysis examines how nations utilize biopower strategies to govern and control the mobility of refugees. This includes identifying the mechanisms of control and governance utilized by states to influence migration flows and outcomes within their borders. Biopower strategies are examined in relation to specific policies implemented by Türkiye, such as the creation of safe zones the "go and see" approach, and legal regulations.

On the one hand, the data analysis seeks to identify the key actors and stakeholders involved in shaping and driving the adoption of biopower strategies in refugee return policies. This involves studying the roles of government agencies, international organizations, non-governmental organizations (NGOs), and organizations responsible for return execution in particular PMM and UNHCR. The analysis explores how these influential agents interact and collaborate in the

formulation and implementation of policies. On the other hand, the targeted population refers to the group of individuals to whom the policies are directed – in this case, the SR in Türkiye. The data analysis investigates how return policies are applied to influence the returning of the targeted population. It explores the factors that drive SR' return, and how the return policies impact their mobility.

The qualitative data analysis adopts a critical approach, acknowledging that policies are inherently political activities driven by beliefs, meanings, and argumentation. It recognizes that the information presented in datasets may be influenced and framed in certain ways by the actors within the political environment (Bhandari, 2020). Therefore, the analysis interprets the data, offering insights into the motivations, implications, and effectiveness of the biopower strategies used by countries to address refugee return issues. By comprehensively examining the interplay of biopower, influential agents, and targeted populations, this analysis aims to shed light on the complexities surrounding the return of SR.

Although the critical analysis of policy datasets yielded valuable and pertinent findings, there was a limitation that needed to be addressed. The analysis was constrained to the information officially disclosed in policy documents, taking into consideration that these documents were intended for a general audience. Consequently, it is highly likely that the findings do not offer a fully transparent depiction of both the motivations behind the policies and the intricacies of their implementation. This limitation was anticipated and considered normal for this methodology, given the sensitive and discreet nature of extraterritorial tools (FitzGerald, 2019). Despite this limitation, the available data still offered sufficient information to derive significant findings and valuable insights. The analysis managed to provide important understandings despite the inherent challenges in accessing comprehensive and unfiltered data related to the policies in question.

5. Background

An illustrative instance of biopolitical reasoning related to return policies is evident within the context of Türkiye. To thoroughly examine the biopower strategies influencing population mobility, including the safe-zone creation, the go-and-see approach, and legal regulations, for the scope of this research, it is essential to take into account the public discourses of Türkiye in which these return policies are formulated.

Starting from 2014, Türkiye has taken on the responsibility of overseeing the largest population of the world. As of August 28, 2023, the number of Syrians under temporary protection has exceeded 3.3 million, with nearly half of them being children and approximately 46 percent being women and girls (PMM, 2023c). The legal framework in Türkiye for the legal stay, registration, documentation, and access to rights and services for foreigners is established by the Law on Foreigners and International Protection (LFIP), enacted in 2013, and the Temporary Protection Regulation (TRP) (3RP, 2023, p. 5).

In the early stages of the Syrian crisis, Türkiye exhibited a positive response to the arrival of SR, viewing it as a humanitarian issue. The official narrative emphasized that Syrians were considered 'guests,' shaping the discourse. In 2013, Türkiye described Syrians as both guests and brothers, explicitly stating that denying them entry was not an option. By 2014, the government framed the act of hosting refugees as an expression of 'Ansar' (helpers). The presence of Syrians was perceived as potentially beneficial for future relations between Türkiye and Syria (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 418).

The prolonged Syrian crisis has resulted in a lengthened stay of SR in Türkiye. As the economic slowdown emerged, the initial feelings of solidarity towards SR transformed into disappointment, adversely impacting their welfare and socio-culture. The quality of public discourse have deteriorated, leading to a rise in xenophobic attitudes and a heightened perception of discrimination. Turkish citizens have started perceiving Syrians as "competitors" vying for scarce resources within the country and as an economic burden (Erdogan, 2022, p. 321). Consequently, the rights granted to Syrians in Türkiye have come under public scrutiny and criticism, particularly as economic challenges in the country have intensified (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 420). As Türkiye's economic situation continued to deteriorate, politicization of migration was on a rise (Yanaşmayan, Üstübici and Kaşlı, 2019, p. 48), prompting public demands for the return of refugees to Syria (Erdogan, 2022, p. 158).

Two comprehensive researched conducted supported this sentiments. One important discovery from the 2018 research conducted by the Istanbul Bilgi University Migration Research Center, titled "Dimensions of Polarization in Türkiye," revealed that 86.2% of individuals who express their support for the return of SR to their home countries. Among Turkish citizens surveyed, 37.4% advocate sending Syrians to secure regions within Syria, while 28.1% insist on keeping them in separate camps away from the Turkish community. Additionally, 25% support the deportation of Syrians, while a smaller percentage, 2.4%, believe that establishing dedicated cities for Syrians is the appropriate approach (İstanbul Bilgi University, 2018). Furthermore,

Syrians barometer survey conducted by Erdogan in 2021 for UNHCR, supports that research that although 98% of Syrians reside in urban areas with Turkish community, a substantial majority of Turkish people (81.8% in 2017 and 87.2% in 2019) expressed their reluctance to live alongside SR (Erdogan, 2022).

Considering the survey outcomes and the public demands placed on politicians, the potential for SR' return are increasingly becoming a subject of focus within political discussions (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 425). There has been a shift in the discourse surrounding SR, with the initial emphasis on "hospitality" giving way to an increasing focus on the necessity for SR to return to their home country. The Turkish policy-makers chose not to adopt a discourse of integration as they believed that emphasizing the discourse of return would yield greater political benefits (Kaya *et al.*, 2021, p. 191). Pre-election campaigns leading up to the presidential and parliamentary 2023 elections prominently centered on the return of SR in Türkiye. These campaigns, along with the racist and hateful speeches made by certain opposition parties and figures, evoked negative reactions among the Turkish public, particularly towards the presence of SR in major cities. Any incident involving SR was excessively sensationalized by the media, leading to violence and even death against Syrians (Jamous, 2023).

In May 2023, President Erdogan unveiled a project aimed at facilitating the "voluntary return of a million SR to their homelands." During a video message at the inauguration of briquette houses for SR residing in Idlib, a region in northern Syria, Erdogan expressed that the plan would be extensive and cover 13 districts along Syria's northern border (Hardan, 2022). This initiative can be interpreted as a form of government communication directed at the domestic audience ahead of elections, given that the Turkish public has concerns regarding the presence of refugees in the country. However, it can also be seen as an indication of Türkiye's geostrategic considerations, serving as a message to the international community about the country's strategic capabilities in engaging in negotiations with Syria, including addressing the urgent refugee issue (Levkowitz, 2023).

6. Return Policies of Türkiye Concerning Syrian Refugees

Given the evolving situation within Turkish society and driven by political considerations, the Turkish government initiated measures related to the return of SR. As Foucault (1978) mentioned the governments use biopolitical strategies to govern targeted populations by using the disciplinary power to regulate refugee movement to enhance the prosperity of their citizens.

Within this framework, Türkiye primarily utilized three distinct biopower strategies: Creating a safe zone, go and see approach, and legal regulations. The various roles and perspectives on the issue of return mirror the unique national context in which Syrian refugee migration unfolds. It involves a complex interplay between security, humanitarian, and socio-economic aspects, and is influenced by the multifaceted relationships among a growing number of state and non-state institutions (Memişoğlu and Ilgit, 2016, p. 1). The government's policies concerning Syrians frequently receive prominence and backing through the strategic use of political narratives and powerful metaphors that outline roles and scenarios (Rottmann and Kaya, 2021, p. 479).

6.1 Creating a Safe Zone

In conflict-ridden scenarios, implementing governance reform is a lengthy and demanding process in Syria, particularly given the intricate interplay of domestic and international politics in some situations (Yahya, Kassir and El-Hariri, 2018, p. 49). The discussions surrounding UN intervention, foreign involvement, security measures within safe zones, return processes during conflict, post-conflict returns, and returns in times of peace in Northern Syria are highly contentious and even paradoxical in nature (Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 12). The Turkish government gradually crafted a strategic narrative that strategically combines border security concerns with the power vacuum in northern Syria, linking it to the issue of refugee returns (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 415). This narrative of return is further strengthened by a survey conducted by UNHCR. Syria Barometer survey showed that a majority (61%) of the Syrians interviewed in Türkiye would be inclined to return to Syria once the war ends and a favorable environment is established (Erdogan, 2022, p. 17). By leveraging these connections, the government aimed to make the narrative of return more strategic, seeking to gain support for its cross-border military offensive and the creating of a 'safe zone' for the resettlement of returnees in northern Syria (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2807), while also portraying Türkiye as a compassionate humanitarian actor, using the Syrian refugee crisis as a demonstration of its benevolence (Içduygu and Nimer, 2020, p. 418). Under these conditions, Türkiye become increasingly impatient with the existing situation and ultimately seeks large-scale return of refugees sooner or later (Kayaoglu, Şahin-Mencütek and Erdoğan, 2022, p. 579) and justified deploying military operations and security forces in northern Syria with the aim of facilitating the return of a significant portion of the settled refugees, thus alleviating the burden on Türkiye (Secen, 2021, p. 9).

Importantly, both integrating humanitarian efforts with a political strategy to creating a safe zone and attempts at facilitating returns are not exclusive to Türkiye; these practices have been prevalent since the 1990s (Adar, 2020, p. 2). For instance, Türkiye favoured the idea of establishing a safe zone to manage the influx of approximately half a million Iraqi Kurds at its borders after the First Gulf War in 1991. On April 5, 1991, the UN Security Council Resolution 688 authorized the United States to lead the establishment of safe zones and a no-fly zone on the Turkish border (Ihlamur-Öner, 2022, p. 306). Türkiye also attempted a similar approach in response to the Syrian refugee crisis since the beginning of the Syrian war in 2012, as a potential solution for return (Adetunji, 2012). When Türkiye was unable to receive a response to its initial request in 2012, it made a subsequent request through visiting to Brussels in 2015. The government has urged the UN Security Council to approve the creation of a safe zone in northern Syria (Kalantaryan, 2015; Adar, 2020, p. 1), while facing the challenges in gaining international support for the Syrian case (Ihlamur-Öner, 2022, p. 306). On this basis, the Turkish government implemented various military operations and strategic narratives to encourage self-organized returns of Syrians refugees in 2016, 2018 and 2019 (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2806).

Commencing in 2016, Türkiye initiated operations in Northern Syria, with Operation Euphrates Shield successfully securing an area of 2,000 square kilometers. Following the conclusion of the Euphrates Shield Operation, numerous Syrians were observed returning to the Jarablus region (Shaheen, 2016). The 2018 Olive Branch Operation targeted Afrin province with the objective of pushing the terror organisations away from Türkiye's borders. As a result of this operation, the area under Türkiye's control expanded to 3,500 square kilometers. Following this, on October 9, 2019, Türkiye commenced Operation Peace Spring. During this time, President Erdogan stressed the interconnectedness between combating terrorism, safeguarding Syria's territorial integrity, and facilitating the return of SR to Syria (Aliriza and Yekeler, 2018). Also, the Turkish Foreign Affairs reiterated its firm commitment to eradicate all terrorist elements located east of the Euphrates River. Operation Peace Spring had a specific objective of creating a safe zone extending 30 kilometers (20 miles) into Syria's northeast, with the intention of returning up to one million SR in this area (MFA, 2023b).

Nevertheless, following the military operations, Turkish-led safe zone lacked international recognition (Fakih, 2019; Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 11). SR in Türkiye remained vulnerable to return, raising concerns that Turkish authorities might relocate large numbers of

refugees to the so-called "safe zone" in northern Syria (Amnesty International, 2020). Human Rights Watch points out that "safe zones" created during other conflicts are rarely safe and that the creation of a zone cannot justify the return of refugees (Human Rights Watch, 2019). It is worth noting that even the United Nations Security Council and UNHCR don't endorse the creating of safe zones, as it believes such zones jeopardize the right to seek asylum (Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 12). Despite the lack of international backing, the concept of creating a safe zone emerged as a top priority on Türkiye's agenda (Schuringa, 2016, p. 46), and it persisted with its military operations (ICMPD, 2021, p. 2). The majority of those returning are originally from areas under the control of the Syrian government, but it's worth mentioning that the same government has been responsible for generating over six million refugees and has been involved in numerous riots and severe human rights violations against its own citizens (Human Rights Watch, 2022).

Besides the military operations, the latest indications from Türkiye and other governments suggest that they are contemplating restoring diplomatic ties with Syrian President Bashar al-Assad and approved its intentions to relocate one million refugees to northern Syria, specifically in regions outside the government's control (Michaelson, 2022). While numerous Syrians appear reluctant to return as long as President Assad remains in power, Turkish authorities believe that reaching an agreement with the regime could facilitate the return of SR (Levkowitz, 2023).

Presently, Turkish-controlled regions in northern Syria house over four million individuals, including a significant number of internally displaced people. The fact that Turkish authorities have control over these areas serves as a buffer, effectively preventing the emergence of new refugee flows (Chulov, 2022). On May 25, 2023, the Ministry of Interior announced that during 2018 and 2019, there were two significant migratory surges, involving nearly 2 million individuals moving northward in Syria. It was highlighted that the implementation of safe zones played a crucial role in preventing these migration waves from escalating into a crisis (Hurriyet, 2023). Also, partnership with the Syrian National Coalition forces enables Turkish authorities to exert economic, social, and political influence over Northern Syria. Consequently, their involvement extends beyond military presence and encompasses comprehensive administrative restructuring and deployment efforts. For instance, all local councils in Northern Syria collaborate directly with Turkish authorities, Turkish lessons are integrated into the primary school curriculum, Turkish post offices operate, and the use of Turkish currency is prevalent in the region (Aslan, 2019, p. 56). Türkiye actively participates in the reconstruction of

infrastructure, schools, hospitals, mosques, and universities in collaboration with local partners. Turkish media and government agencies reported that the areas under Turkish control are considered safe (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2813).

Consequently, although there have been some improvements like this, the prospect of achieving a sustainable return of refugees to the established safe zone appears questionable (Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 11), with issues such as inadequate security, a lack of rule of law, limited access to basic services, challenges in restructuring, and overall uncertain circumstances undermining the feasibility of facilitating safe, voluntary, and enduring returns. In the current situation, a return to Syria would likely result in internal displacement and exacerbate instability and human suffering in the region (Demiryontar and İçduygu, 2023, p. 12). Enhancing livelihood opportunities through investments without adequately addressing security concerns, movement restrictions, or the underlying causes of forced displacement could endanger returnees or even lead to new displacements. Ensuring a voluntary and secure return requires holding those responsible for crimes accountable through criminal prosecutions and providing victims with redress and justice (Sullivan, 2019, p. 5; Human Rights Watch, 2023).

6.2 Go and See Approach

The notable development in the north-western Syria prompted Türkiye to revise its approach towards to encourage SR return. In this sense, another complementary biopower strategies, known as the "go and see" approach, was implemented during the Eid holidays from 2017 to 2021. This authorization pertains to the permit granted by the PMM, enabling voluntary of SR to celebrate their religious holidays within the created safe zone in Syria. This permit allows them to depart from Türkiye and reside in Syria for a duration of up to three months (PMM, 2021). By means of these visits, SR was able to meet their relatives and loved ones, assess the conditions in their home country and make informed decisions about their return while retaining their temporary protection status during their stay in Syria, with the requirement to inform the authorities about their safe return (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2813). However, it is essential to mention that Syrians holding Turkish citizenship were not eligible for this permit (PMM, 2021). If Syrians failed to return within the specified timeframe, their temporary protection status was revoked by the PMM (PMM, 2021).

During the Eid visits in 2017, 40,000 Syrians, constituting 15% of the returnees, opted to stay in Syria. Similarly, in 2018, out of 252,000 Syrians who visited Syria, 57% chose to stay. In

total, around 150,000 Syrians did not return from their Eid holiday (AA, 2022). Eid visits by Syrians, who last ventured to certain areas of Syria like Azez, Mare, Afrin Jarablus, and Al Bab. These regions were the places where safe zone operations by the Turkish military were conducted (PMM, 2022b). As a result, the primary factor contributing to the notable success in the increase of returns, particularly in terms of numbers, was the created of safe zones within Syria. This led to the creation of living spaces and significant structural changes in areas where security was ensured (PMM, 2022b).

Nevertheless, the act of SR returning to their home countries to celebrate their Eid holidays sparked debates regarding the principle of "non- refoulement". In the view of certain analysts, the opportunity for SR to travel to and remain in their places of origin for Eid celebrations implies an improvement in conditions there, thus implying that they may not need to return to Türkiye. This perspective challenges the credibility of the non-refoulement principle, which prohibits the return of refugees to locations of persecution (Euronews, 2022).

Selim Sazak, a scholar at Brown University, suggests that the permission for SR to return to their homelands during Eid signifies the diminishing relevance of the refugee status. From this perspective, Sazak further emphasized that the obligation lies in not returning those who flee from danger, but there is no obligation to readmit those who voluntary return. The concept of part-time asylum doesn't apply in this context. İbrahim Vurgun Kavlak, General Coordinator of the Association for Solidarity with Asylum Seekers and Migrants, as an alternative viewpoint distinct from the preceding perspective, states that "not breaking ties during holidays ensures that conditions for voluntary return are created in the future for Syrians (Euronews, 2022).

As per the convention, the act of a refugee or asylum seeker returning to their country of origin leads to the termination of their legal status or application (Convention, 1951). The existence of the "Eid visiting permit" introduces a contradiction in the proper adherence to the principles of non-refoulement and emergency protection outlined in the Convention. On this basis, this incentive lacked a legal basis and was solely a governmental decision executed through the PMM and border authorities responsible for granting temporary travel permits (Mencutek, 2021, p. 2813). The manner in which Türkiye implements the non-refoulement principle highlights the interplay between international law, state interests, and the refugee population management, all of which involve the exercise of biopower. Turkish policymaker exerted their biopower and the tradition of Eid holiday permission continued.

6.3 Legal Regulations

The Turkish Government has adopted a stringent approach towards SR apart from "creation of safe zone and go-and-see approach". Türkiye initiated a reconsideration of its border strategies, and imposed visa restrictions in 2015 for Syrians entering the country in response to the ongoing refugee crisis (Human Rights Watch, 2015). Subsequent year, post-2016, Türkiye de facto discontinued the open door policy, opting instead to construct a barrier spanning over 900 km along the Syrian border (Erdogan, 2019, p. 3). Syrians are now allowed to enter legally only in cases of medical emergencies, such as arriving by ambulance. Once the medical emergency is resolved, they are promptly sent back to their country of origin (Al-Kanj, 2021). Upon crossing the border, they are required to sign a document labeled as a 'voluntary return' form. This process, coupled with the confiscation of their documents, effectively bars returnees from being able to re-enter Türkiye (Norwegian Refugee Council *et al.*, 2018, p. 10).

In addition to the border gate procedures resulting from the end of the open-door policy in 2016, SR were granted the privilege of obtaining work permits in the same year. However, their ability to participate in the labor market is subject to certain limitations within Türkiye. These restrictions include confining work permits to particular cities and geographic regions. This regulation also imposes specific quotas, such as capping the Syrian workforce at no more than 10 percent of the total workforce within a workplace. Moreover, smaller businesses with fewer than 10 employees are restricted to hiring only one SR (Ineli-Ciger, 2017, pp. 561–562).

The following year, in 2018, Türkiye announced its intention to close all refugee camps within a year. These camps had provided refuge to over 100,000 Syrians, comprising 4% of the total refugee population, since 2012 due to a lack of alternative options. With the closure of these camps, refugees faced two difficult choices: either relocating to cities with expensive housing or considering returning to Syria (Gurcan, 2019). Moreover, in 2021, the introduction of the address verification application aimed to validate the accuracy of address details and monitor the residences of Syrians under temporary protection. As a result, approximately 600,000 SR had their temporary protection status deactivated in 2022. Although the status of over 160,000 people was later reinstated, a significant number were required to return to their initial province of registration or risk residing in their region without legal status, losing access to public services and formal employment opportunities (3RP, 2023, p. 8). As an illustration, in cases where SR express the desire to travel from their designated city without a valid travel permit and are identified by law enforcement units, thereby potentially initiating administrative

measures that could lead to their return. Naturally, these incidents have generated apprehension among other SR within Türkiye (Holleis and Knipp, 2022). The following year, policies were implemented in areas where the density of Syrians exceeded the Turkish society, leading to the suspension of new temporary protection in approximately 1,200 neighborhoods. Hereafter, new registrations for Syrians under temporary protection are now required to be conducted in temporary shelters (PMM, 2022a). As a result, their mobility and areas of registration were constrained.

Local authorities also engaged in the return process of SR through the implementation of various initiatives. The Esenyurt municipality in Istanbul conducted a return campaign that facilitated the return of over 3,000 Syrians, encompassing a total of 30 trips to the Syrian border in 2018 (Hürriyet Daily News, 2022). Each return journey was presented in the national media as a ceremonial event, depicting it as a moment when 'our guests return home' (Seibert, 2018). Bolu province's Mayor Tanju Özcan, known for expressing xenophobic views against Syrians, placed banners in the province with a message calling on Syrians to return to their country. The banners, titled "Last call from Bolu Municipality to temporary refugees," conveyed a message that "it's time to depart as you arrived. Your presence is no longer desired; please return to your homeland." He also enacted a municipal law that led to an eleven fold surge in water charges and a significantly inflated rise in fees for marriage ceremonies specifically targeting them (DailySabah, 2022). Similarly, on August, 2021, the Mayor of Sungurlu in Türkiye's Corum province made comments aimed at SR and stressed that Syrians would not be permitted to reside in the Sungurlu region. He also remarked, "One without a homeland has no dignity." Notably, the Turkish government remained passive in response to these hostile statements and media instigations against SR, opting not to intervene (CIHRS, 2021).

In spite of Türkiye's legal enforcement for the return of Syrians, it has faced criticism from several international organizations (Adar, 2020, p. 3). Human Rights Watch (2022) observer stated that the PMM lacks the capacity to oversee the well-being of SR upon their return to Syria. Those returned to northern Syria felt trapped, as they could not return home or establish a stable life amidst the ongoing conflicts in the northern part of Syria. Also, the Syrian Observatory for Human Rights reported that Turkish authorities execute return 50 to 100 SR daily, using various pretexts, and sending them to regions in northern Syria controlled by the Syrian opposition, through the border crossings between Syria and Türkiye (Jamous, 2023). Plus, Amnesty International's brief report (2019, p. 5) revealed that hundreds of SR were apprehended, detained, and returned against their will across Türkiye in mid-2019. Many of

these refugees did not fully understand the documents they were asked to sign, as they were often in Turkish. In a similar vein, Human Rights Watch, through a letter dated October 26, 2021, shared the findings of their report, stating that some of Syrians who were returned reported being coerced by Turkish authorities them into signing return documents at removal centers and an immigration office (Human Rights Watch, 2022).

In response to these claims, the PMM, stated on November 21, that HRW's statements were unfounded, and Türkiye complies with international law and domestic regulations, exclusively returning foreigners to their country of origin or a secure third country. Türkiye reaffirmed its commitment to upholding the principles of non-refoulement and ensuring voluntary and secure returns (PMM, November 17, 2022c). Up until now, Türkiye has not conducted any large-scale or coerced return of SR to Syria. The returns that have taken place have been on an individual, case-by-case basis, often referred to as "spontaneous returns." (Kaya *et al.*, 2021, p. 191) Professor Talip Kucukcan (2022, p. 189) from University of Marmara added that although Türkiye encountered accusations of returning Syrians and engaging in demographic engineering, after the operations Euphrates Shield in 2016 and Olive Branch in 2018, there have been no apparent demographic changes, despite the challenges posed by limited resources and inadequate financial support from the international community.

7. Role Of UNHCR in Refugee Return

In practical terms, the exercise of power concerning territory, norms, discourses, and resources significantly influences the arrangements for return. Within this context, both state and non-state actors become politicized, leading to conflicts revolving around the principles guiding the process of return (Zieck, 2004, p. 47). On this basis, the notion of return gives rise to several inquiries that are still awaiting an appropriate answer. Such as, what should be the role of UNHCR? (Chimni, 1998, p. 365) UNHCR's involvement in return operations has been a contentious issue in practice (Long, 2013b, p. 1). UNHCR faces a lack of clear legal guidance in these matters (Chimni, 1998, p. 366), although the UNHCR charter mandates UNHCR to facilitate the "voluntary repatriation" of refugees. Interestingly, the (1951) UN Refugee Convention does not mention voluntary repatriation. The 1969 OAU Refugee Convention is the only treaty that explicitly incorporates the concept of voluntariness as an essential aspect of repatriation. Article 5 of this convention emphasizes that "the essentially voluntary nature of repatriation shall be respected in all circumstances, and no refugee shall be returned to his country against his will." (OAU, 1969, article 5) Nevertheless, the current UNHCR policy

continues to stress that voluntary repatriation is the preferred solution only when feasible, and it encourages the simultaneous exploration of local integration and resettlement options for refugees who cannot or choose not to return to their countries of origin (UNHCR, 2005).

In theory, the phrase "voluntary return in safety and dignity" is widely recognized as a fundamental aspect of UNHCR's protection norms (Long, 2013a, p. 1). The organization of return processes necessitates close coordination among the host state, country of origin, and refugees on the ground. UNHCR have crucial responsibilities in terms of coordinating, monitoring, and offering financial support (Koch, 2014, p. 913). In UNHCR-organized repatriation, it offers transportation and additional support to facilitate the return of refugees (UNHCR, 1996, p. 19) and maintains responsibility for both spontaneous and organized returns. For instance, in situations where spontaneous returns take place during times of conflict, UNHCR is obliged to deliver prompt and effective protection and assistance to the affected individuals (UNHCR, 1996, p. 19). Although these returns are often meticulously planned and organized, they differ from UNHCR's structured or assisted returns. Moreover, a significant number of individuals who are citizens of their country of origin and may have chosen not to register as refugees, or who might have established camps or left official protection settings, are likely to return to their home country once conditions become safe (Long, 2013a, p. 17).

7.1 UNHCR's Challenges in Syrian Refugees' Return in Türkiye: Coordination and Contradictions

UNHCR's role in safeguarding the protection of SR in Türkiye involves supporting the temporary protection regime by offering technical guidance (UNHCR, 2017, p. 7). From 1960 onward, UNHCR has engaged in a collaborative effort with Türkiye to address asylum and refugee matters. The cooperation between Türkiye and UNHCR was further formalized and reinforced through the signing of a Host Country Agreement on 1 September 2016. This agreement solidifies their existing partnership. UNHCR's presence in Türkiye is substantial, constituting one of its largest global operations, with offices in Ankara and field teams stationed in İstanbul, İzmir, and specifically operates in southeastern region of Türkiye such as Gaziantep, Hatay, Şanlıurfa, and Van. Their teams routinely visit all refugee camps, providing technical assistance in various areas, including registration, camp management, identifying vulnerabilities, facilitating voluntary return, education, health and nutrition, water sanitation, and site planning (UNHCR, 2023d). In return procedural terms, UNHCR offers return

consultation first, and subsequently facilitates returns by organizing logistics for reintegration support (Mencutek, 2022, p. 53).

The process of return concerning SR in Türkiye involves numerous procedural steps and collaboration with international organizations and local stakeholders to facilitate a safe and transparent return (Ihlamur-Öner, 2022, p. 306). The PMM is responsible for coordinating returns from Türkiye to Syria, with the goal of independently preparing the necessary conditions for a significant return of Syrians in the coming times. Syrian under temporary protection who express a voluntary desire to return to their home country can submit their applications to the Provincial Directorates of Migration Management located in their respective regions of residence. This step marks the commencement of the procedures for their voluntary return (PMM, 2023b). Before return operation, the voluntary return form must be signed by four parties to facilitate their return: the returnee, a government official, a translator, and either a UNHCR representative or a recognized non-governmental organization representative. However, as UNHCR declined involvement in the return process, citing Syria is not safe for returns (Mencutek, 2022, p. 53), instead, representatives from the Turkish Red Crescent are signing the documents. At the border, two Turkish agencies are responsible for transporting SR to towns in Syria under Turkish military control. It's important to note that once the returnees complete the process, they forfeit their temporary protection status and are not allowed to return to Türkiye (PMM, 2023a).

In the lights of this return process, UNHCR possesses limited authority and capabilities to oversee voluntary returns. The difficulty arises from return decisions often being made at night, with return taking place the following morning before the monitoring efforts of these organizations can be effectively conducted (Mencutek, 2022, p. 53). According to UNHCR norms, when returns occur, it is required to provide immediate and efficient protection and support to the impacted individuals (UNHCR, 1996, p. 19), however, UNHCR's limited field capacity prevents them from effectively monitoring return processes. Besides, although UNHCR Türkiye website states that UNHCR teams routinely visit all refugee camps, providing technical assistance in voluntary repatriation (UNHCR, 2023d), on the contrary, UNHCR officials seldom visit immigration offices, and when they do, they primarily review the files without providing much advice or essential information about the consequences of returning. Also, UNHCR refrain from participating in returns to Syria, as they firmly believe it is not safe for returns (Mencutek, 2022, p. 53).

It's worth noting that although UNHCR did not consider the situation in Syria to be favorable for voluntary returns and declined involvement in the return process (UNHCR, 2019), one of the principles outlined in the UNHCR's Comprehensive Protection and Solution Strategy from 2018, titled "Protection Thresholds and Parameters for Refugee Return to Syria," highlights the significance of ensuring the safety and dignified return of SR who willingly opt to return to their home country. This report delves into the changing situation on the ground through two distinct phases: self-organized returns and a large-scale facilitated return operations. The initial phase involves self-organized returns from Lebanon and Türkiye, while the second phase is envisioned to occur with the support of the international community, the UN, non-governmental organizations, host governments, and the Syrian Government. Furthermore, the report incorporates regions within Syria that are identified as "possible return areas" (UNHCR, 2018, p. 4).

Despite the UNHCR's non-participation in the signing of voluntary return agreements due to safety concerns in Syria, it is intriguing that they possess a document detailing potential areas for return and the enhancement of conditions in certain regions within Syria. This situation inherently gives rise to a contradiction within the UNHCR's policy concerning SR. Additionally, according to the UNHCR, voluntary return is regarded as the most effective durable solution when compared to resettlement and integration policies (Pearson, 2021, p. 439). The Syrian Association for Citizen's Dignity (SACD) also raises concerns over the UNHCR's return papers. It stated that dissemination of "misleading and hazardous" content regarding Syria, specifically statements like "conditions are challenging but improving." This criticism stems from the fact that UNHCR lacks access to all regions within the country and cannot ensure the safety of those returning. Consequently, such information may result in "misinformed returns," particularly in areas controlled by the Assad regime, potentially undermining the effectiveness of UNHCR's mission (SACD, 2022).

Another contradiction is that as per UNHCR data, there were approximately 51,300 returns of SR in 2022. In the previous year, around 36,000 returns were registered, which marked a decline from 38,000 in 2020 and a significant drop from 94,000 in 2019, possibly due to difficult conditions within Syria (UNHCR, 2023c). In total, about 220,000 returns from Türkiye to Syria have been officially documented. This sharply greatly contradicts the figures of 550,000 returnees reported by the Turkish Ministry of Interior in March of this year (Holleis and Knipp, 2022). According to Mencutek's (2021, p. 2820) viewpoint, the government's reported figures are higher, potentially because UNHCR's data might not include all the returns.

8. Conclusion

The management of refugee populations has become an increasingly complex and contentious issue in the modern global landscape. Within this context, Türkiye's approach to return policies for SR stands as a significant case study that can be comprehensively examined through the theoretical framework of biopolitics, while also considering the role of the UNHCR. The amalgamation of these factors offers a multifaceted understanding of how state interests, population management strategies, and international humanitarian mandates intersect in the realm of return policies.

At its core, biopolitics (1978), as conceptualized by Michel Foucault, elucidates the ways in which power operates to control and regulate populations. In the case of Türkiye's return policies, the biopolitical lens highlights the state's efforts to optimize the composition and functionality of its population through strategic measures. Biopower strategies, as Foucault describes, aim to manage life itself, encompassing various mechanisms that govern the well-being, reproduction, and productivity of the population. This notion of governance extends to the realm of migration and return policies, where the state seeks to regulate and shape the movement of individuals within its borders.

Türkiye's return policies exemplify the application of biopower strategies to manage its SR population. For example, the creation of safe zones, serves not only to provide security for civilians but also aligns with the Türkiye's goal of controlling the movement of refugees. By designating certain areas as safe and encouraging SR to return, Türkiye exercises biopolitical control over the composition of SR' population. Thus, Türkiye can manage the inflow and outflow of Syrians, thereby preserving the socio-political equilibrium and maintaining its citizens' well-being. On the one hand, the "go-and-see" approach aligns with Türkiye's biopolitical strategies and serves multiple motivations. By encouraging SR to assess the conditions in their home country firsthand, Türkiye aims to gather information that can influence their decisions about returning. This approach also contributes to the optimization of the population composition, as it empowers SR to make informed choices that align with their individual circumstances. The "go-and-see approach" holds significant implications for Türkiye's return policies and the broader discourse on return. This approach aligns with the principles of human agency and informed decision-making, which are fundamental to ethical return. It underscores the importance of considering SR as active participants in the return process, rather than passive recipients of the Turkish government directives. Legal regulations,

on the other hand, function as a regulatory framework to dictate the conditions under which SR can remain or return. Such legislation is instrumental in demarcating the boundaries of the SR and delineating who belongs and who does not, reinforcing the Türkiye's biopolitical prerogative.

The interplay between biopolitics and the role of the UNHCR in Türkiye's return policies creates a delicate balancing act between Türkiye's interests and humanitarian imperatives. The Türkiye's biopolitical strategies may conflict with international humanitarian standards, particularly when the prioritization of its own citizens clashes with refugee protection principles. The UNHCR's challenges in reconciling its commitment to refugee well-being with the realities on the ground underscore the complex ethical dilemmas inherent in return operations. This complex landscape raises fundamental questions about the role of state sovereignty, ethical responsibility, and the pursuit of national interests. It highlights the need for nuanced policy approaches that address the imperatives of both state security and humanitarian protection. Achieving this balance requires active collaboration between state authorities, international organizations, and civil society actors, all working together to ensure that return policies uphold the dignity and rights of refugees.

The UNHCR's presence and involvement in Türkiye are significant. Its technical guidance to support Türkiye's temporary protection regime reflects its commitment to providing expertise in managing SR. The collaboration between Türkiye and the UNHCR exemplifies an effort to strike a balance between state interests and humanitarian concerns. However, The UNHCR's engagement in facilitating voluntary returns is constrained by limitations in field capacity and the urgent of return decisions. These constraints inhibit the organization's ability to effectively monitor and coordinate return processes, highlighting the challenges of aligning normative principles with practical realities.

One another challenge arises from the UNHCR's possession of documents outlining potential return areas and improved conditions within Syria. While the organization's refusal to sign voluntary return forms due to safety concerns underscores its dedication to safeguarding refugees' interests, the existence of these documents reveals a dissonance between policy pronouncements and operational realities. This paradox underscores the intricate interplay between normative principles and the practical challenges of implementing return policies in complex environments. Moreover, the discrepancies between official return figures reported by the Turkish Ministry of Interior and the UNHCR highlight the complexities in tracking Syrian

returnees. These discrepancies suggest potential gaps in data collection, revealing the challenges of comprehensively monitoring return operations and assessing their impact.

In navigating these tensions, several considerations emerge for future policy development. First, the biopolitical aspects of return policies necessitate the exploration of ethical boundaries such as force or voluntary return. Balancing population management with respect for refugee rights requires careful deliberation to avoid discriminatory practices or undue hardships for vulnerable populations. Second, the UNHCR's role demands increased collaboration with host states, including timely and effective monitoring mechanisms that align with the organization's protection norms. Additionally, efforts should be directed towards addressing the challenges of data collection and tracking returnees accurately to inform evidence-based policy decisions.

In conclusion, a clear path forward necessitates a critical examination of the ethical boundaries within biopolitics, enhancing collaboration with organizations like UNHCR, and devising robust monitoring mechanisms. Ultimately, as Turkiye grapples with the Syrian refugee crisis, a comprehensive perspective acknowledging biopolitics, state desires, and humanitarian obligations is vital for the creation of effective, ethically grounded return policies. As the international community seeks durable solutions for the Syrian refugee crisis, a holistic approach that considers the interplay of biopolitics, state interests, and humanitarian imperatives is essential for crafting conducive return policies.

9. Bibliography

3RP (2023) '2023-2025 Türkiye Country Chapter (ENG) – 3RP Syria Crisis', 16 March. Available at: https://www.3rpsyriacrisis.org/portfolio/tur2023_2025_eng/ (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

AA (2022) *Bayram izni kaldırılan Suriyeliler, gönüllü geri dönüşe teşvik edilecek*. Available at: https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/gundem/bayram-izni-kaldırılan-suriyeliler-gonullu-geri-donuse-tesvik-edilecek/2576076 (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Adams, R. (2017) 'Michel Foucault: Biopolitics and Biopower', *Critical Legal Thinking*, 10 May. Available at: https://criticallegalthinking.com/2017/05/10/michel-foucault-biopolitics-biopower/ (Accessed: 23 August 2023).

Adamson, F.B. (2006) 'Crossing Borders: International Migration and National Security', *International Security*, 31(1), pp. 165–199. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1162/isec.2006.31.1.165.

Adar, S. (2020) Repatriation to Turkey's 'safe zone' in Northeast Syria: Ankara's goals and European concerns. Berlin: Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik -SWP- Deutsches Institut für Internationale Politik und Sicherheit (SWP Comment). Available at: https://doi.org/10.18449/2020C01.

Adetunji, J. (2012) 'Turkey calls for UN security council reform over failure to pressure Syria', *The Guardian*, 13 October. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/oct/13/turkey-unsecurity-council-reform-syria (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Agamben, G. (1998) *Homo Sacer: Sovereign Power and Bare Life*. Translated by D. Heller-Roazen. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Aliriza, B. and Yekeler, Z. (2018) 'Understanding Turkey's Afrin Operation'. Available at: https://www.csis.org/analysis/understanding-turkeys-afrin-operation (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Al-Kanj, S. (2021) *Turkey suspends free medical treatment for Syrians - Al-Monitor: Independent, trusted coverage of the Middle East.* Available at: https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2021/09/turkey-suspends-free-medical-treatment-syrians (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

Am, H. (2020) 'Rich on Resources' - An Interpretive Policy Analysis of Producing Public Good in Salmon Governance in Norway. Available at: https://ecpr.eu/Events/Event/PaperDetails/55895 (Accessed: 7 August 2023).

Amnesty International (2017) *Refugees at heightened risk of refoulement under Turkey's state of emergency*. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur44/7157/2017/en/ (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

Amnesty International (2019) *Turkey: Sent to a war zone: Turkey's illegal deportations of Syrian refugees*, *Amnesty International*. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/eur44/1102/2019/en/ (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Amnesty International (2020) *Syrians at risk of deportation from Turkey*. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org.uk/resources/syrians-risk-deportation-turkey (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

Amnesty International Report (2023) *Amnesty International Report 2022/23: The state of the world's human rights*, *Amnesty International*. Available at: https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/pol10/5670/2023/en/ (Accessed: 13 June 2023).

Aslan, M. (2019) 'Report: Turkey's Reconstruction Model in Syria', *SETA* [Preprint]. Available at: https://www.setav.org/en/report-turkeys-reconstruction-model-in-syria/ (Accessed: 9 July 2023).

Betts, A. and Loescher, G. (2011) Refugees in International Relations. OUP Oxford.

Bhandari, P. (2020) *What Is Qualitative Research? | Methods & Examples, Scribbr.* Available at: https://www.scribbr.com/methodology/qualitative-research/ (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Bhungalia, L. (2012) 'Im/Mobilities in a "Hostile Territory": Managing the Red Line', *Geopolitics*, 17(2), pp. 256–275. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2011.554462.

Brettell, C.B. and Hollifield, J.F. (2014) *Migration Theory: Talking Across Disciplines*. London, UNITED KINGDOM: Taylor & Francis Group. Available at: http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/suss/detail.action?docID=1766907 (Accessed: 6 August 2023).

Busetto, L., Wick, W. and Gumbinger, C. (2020) 'How to use and assess qualitative research methods', *Neurological Research and Practice*, 2(1), p. 14. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-020-00059-z.

Cassarino, J.-P. (2004) 'Theorising Return Migration: The Conceptual Approach to Return Migrants Revisited'. Rochester, NY. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1730637 (Accessed: 19 June 2023).

Chimni, B.S. (1998) 'The Geopolitics of Refugee Studies: A View from the South', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 11(4), pp. 350–374. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/11.4.350-a.

Chimni, B.S. (2004) 'From Resettlement to Involuntary Repatriation: Towards a Critical History of Durable Solutions to Refugee Problems', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 23(3), pp. 55–73. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/rsq/23.3.55.

Chulov, M. (2022) 'Turkey's plan to forcibly relocate Syrian refugees gains momentum', *The Guardian*, 27 May. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/may/27/turkeys-plan-to-forcibly-relocate-syrian-refugees-gains-momentum (Accessed: 10 July 2023).

CIHRS (2021) Hate Speech and Acts against Syrians Escalate in Turkey, Cairo Institute for Human Rights Studies (CIHRS). Available at: https://cihrs.org/hate-speech-and-acts-against-syrians-escalate-in-turkey/?lang=en (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Collyer, M. (2012) 'Deportation and the Micropolitics of Exclusion: The Rise of Removals from the UK to Sri Lanka', *Geopolitics*, 17(2), pp. 276–292. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2011.562940.

Convention (1951) *Convention relating to the Status of Refugees*, *OHCHR*. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-relating-status-refugees (Accessed: 26 July 2023).

DailySabah (2022) 'Last call': Bolu mayor erects banners asking Syrians to return home, Daily Sabah. Available at: https://www.dailysabah.com/politics/last-call-bolu-mayor-erects-banners-asking-syrians-to-return-home/news (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Davitti, D. (2018) 'Biopolitical Borders and the State of Exception in the European Migration "Crisis", *European Journal of International Law*, 29(4), pp. 1173–1196. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ejil/chy065.

Demiryontar, B. and İçduygu, A. (2023) 'The politics around safe zones: a comparative perspective on return to Northern Syria', *Third World Quarterly*, 0(0), pp. 1–16. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2023.2198696.

Dora, Z.K. (2020) 'INTERNATIONAL MIGRANTS AS A MATTER OF SECURITY: OPEN DOOR POLICY AND SYRIANS IN TURKEY', *Güvenlik Bilimleri Dergisi*, 9(2), pp. 501–524. Available at: https://doi.org/10.28956/gbd.830065.

El Gantri, R. and El Mufti, K. (2017) 'Not Without Dignity: Views of Syrian Refugees in Lebanon on Displacement, Conditions of Return, and Coexistence | International Center for Transitional Justice'. Available at: https://www.ictj.org/publication/syria-refugees-lebanon-displacement-return-coexistence (Accessed: 16 July 2023).

Engels, K.S. (2016) 'Biopower, Normalization, and HPV: A Foucauldian Analysis of the HPV Vaccine Controversy', *Journal of Medical Humanities*, 37(3), pp. 299–312. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10912-015-9361-5.

Erdogan, M. (2022) 'SYRIANS BAROMETER- "A FRAMEWORK FOR ACHIEVING SOCIAL COHESION WITH SYRIANS IN TÜRKİYE"', *UNHCR Türkiye* [Preprint]. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/en/publications (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

Erdogan, M.M. (2019) 'SYRIAN REFUGEES IN TURKEY', *SYRIAN REFUGEES IN TURKEY-September* 2019 [Preprint]. Available at: https://www.academia.edu/42974381/SYRIAN_REFUGEES_IN_TURKEY (Accessed: 1 September 2023).

Ertan, N. (2022) Erdogan unveils plans to send 1 million Syrians back as anti-refugee sentiment escalates - Al-Monitor: Independent, trusted coverage of the Middle East. Available at: https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2022/05/erdogan-unveils-plans-send-1-million-syrians-back-anti-refugee-sentiment (Accessed: 20 July 2023).

Euronews (2022) Göçmen tartışması: Siyasilerin açıklamaları ırkçılığı mı tetikliyor?, euronews. Available at: https://tr.euronews.com/2022/04/25/turkiye-de-gocmen-tart-smas-siyasilerin-ac-klamalar-rkc-l-g-m-tetikliyor (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Fakhoury, T. and Mencütek, Z.S. (2023) 'The Geopolitics of Return Migration in the International System', *Geopolitics*, 28(3), pp. 959–978. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2023.2187981.

Fakih, L. (2019) 'Turkey's "Safe Zone" Would Be Anything But', *Human Rights Watch*, 11 October. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/10/11/turkeys-safe-zone-would-be-anything (Accessed: 15 August 2023).

FitzGerald, D.S. (2019) *Refuge beyond Reach: How Rich Democracies Repel Asylum Seekers*. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.

Foucault, M. (1978) The History of Sexuality: An introduction. Pantheon Books.

Foucault, M. (1984) *The Foucault reader*. First edition. Edited by P. Rabinow. New York: Pantheon Books. Available at: http://library.mpib-berlin.mpg.de/toc/z2010_882.pdf (Accessed: 28 June 2023).

Gallagher, D. (1994) 'Durable Solutions in a New Political Era', *Journal of International Affairs*, 47(2), pp. 429–450.

Gibney, M.J. and Hansen, R. (2003) 'Deportation and the liberal state: the forcible return of asylum seekers and unlawful migrants in Canada, Germany and the United Kingdom', *UNHCR New Issues in*

Refugee Research, 77. Available at: https://www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/publications/deportation-and-the-liberal-state-the-forcible-return-of-asylum-seekers-and-unlawful-migrants-in-canada-germany-and-the-united-kingdom (Accessed: 10 August 2023).

Gurcan, M. (2019) Why Turkey is closing down Syrian refugee camps - Al-Monitor: Independent, trusted coverage of the Middle East. Available at: https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2019/06/turkey-syria-why-government-closes-down-refugee-camps.html (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

Hansen, R. (2018) 'The Comprehensive Refugee Response Framework: A Commentary', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 31(2), pp. 131–151. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/fey020.

Hardan, M. (2022) *Half a million Syrians return from Turkey, but were they forced? - Al-Monitor: Independent, trusted coverage of the Middle East.* Available at: https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2022/12/half-million-syrians-return-turkey-were-they-forced (Accessed: 27 July 2023).

Holleis, J. and Knipp, K. (2022) 'Syrian refugees fear Turkey will force them back – DW – 05/24/2022', *dw.com*. Available at: https://www.dw.com/en/syrian-refugees-in-turkey-turn-into-a-political-pawn/a-61915356 (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

Human Rights Watch (2015) 'Turkey: Syrians Pushed Back at the Border', *Human Rights Watch*, 23 November. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2015/11/23/turkey-syrians-pushed-back-border (Accessed: 29 August 2023).

Human Rights Watch (2019) 'Turkey: Syrians Being Deported to Danger', *Human Rights Watch*, 24 October. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/10/24/turkey-syrians-being-deported-danger (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

Human Rights Watch (2022) 'Turkey: Hundreds of Refugees Deported to Syria', *Human Rights Watch*, 24 October. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/10/24/turkey-hundreds-refugees-deported-syria (Accessed: 22 June 2023).

Human Rights Watch (2023) 'Syria: Events of 2022', in *World Report 2023*. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2023/country-chapters/syria (Accessed: 29 August 2023).

Hurriyet (2023) *Bakan Soylu: Türkiye'de şu anda 3 milyon 381 bin Suriyeli var*. Available at: https://www.hurriyet.com.tr/gundem/son-dakika-icisleri-bakani-suleyman-soyludan-onemli-aciklamalar-42273036 (Accessed: 17 August 2023).

Hürriyet Daily News (2022) *Over 50 Syrians in Istanbul's Esenyurt repatriate - Türkiye News*, *Hürriyet Daily News*. Available at: https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/over-50-syrians-in-istanbuls-esenyurt-repatriate-176027 (Accessed: 20 July 2023).

Hyndman, J. (2003) 'Preventive, Palliative, or Punitive - Safe Spaces in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Somalia, and Sri Lanka', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 16(2), pp. 167–185.

Hyndman, J. (2012) 'The Geopolitics of Migration and Mobility', *Geopolitics*, 17(2), pp. 243–255. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14650045.2011.569321.

Içduygu, A. and Nimer, M. (2020) 'The politics of return: exploring the future of Syrian refugees in Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey', *Third World Quarterly*, 41(3), pp. 415–433. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2019.1675503.

ICMPD (2021) "Asylum and Refugees – Turkish Policy Brief" by The International Centre for Migration Policy Development (ICMPD). Available at: https://www.icmpd.org/file/download/50573/file/January020210Turkey0Policy0Brief0-Asylum0and0Refugees.pdf (Accessed: 10 July 2023).

Ihlamur-Öner, S.G. (2022) 'The Global Politics of Refugee Protection and Return: The Case of the Syrian Refugees', in E. Kassoti and N. Idriz (eds) *The Informalisation of the EU's External Action in the Field of Migration and Asylum*. The Hague: T.M.C. Asser Press (Global Europe: Legal and Policy Issues of the EU's External Action), pp. 287–315. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6265-487-7 13.

Ineli-Ciger, M. (2017) 'Protecting Syrians in Turkey: A Legal Analysis', *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 29(4), pp. 555–579. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ijrl/eex042.

İstanbul Bilgi University (2018) Göç Çalışmaları - Uygulama ve Araştırma Merkezi, Göç Çalışmaları - Uygulama ve Araştırma Merkezi. Available at: http://goc.bilgi.edu.tr (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Jamous, A.R. (2023) *No longer welcome: Syrian refugees face Turkey's deportation campaign*, *Raseef22*. Available at: https://raseef22.net/article/1094127-no-longer-welcome-syrian-refugees-face-turkeys-deportation-campaign (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

Kalantaryan, S. (2015) *Turkey and the EU: consensus or contention?*, *MPC Blog*. Available at: https://blogs.eui.eu/migrationpolicycentre/turkey-and-the-eu-consensus-or-contention/ (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Kaya, A. *et al.* (2021) 'Turkey: Border Management, Protection, Reception, and Integration of Refugees', in. Acta Universitatis Upsaliensis, pp. 187–208. Available at: https://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:uu:diva-465036 (Accessed: 1 June 2023).

Kayaoglu, A., Şahin-Mencütek, Z. and Erdoğan, M.M. (2022) 'Return Aspirations of Syrian Refugees in Turkey', *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 20(4), pp. 561–583. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/15562948.2021.1955172.

Kınıklıoglu, S. (2020) Syrian Refugees in Turkey: Changing Attitudes and Fortunes, Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (SWP). Available at: https://www.swp-berlin.org/publikation/syrian-refugees-in-turkey-changing-attitudes-and-fortunes (Accessed: 20 August 2023).

Koca, B.T. (2016) 'Syrian refugees in Turkey: from "guests" to "enemies"?', *New Perspectives on Turkey*, 54, pp. 55–75. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/npt.2016.4.

Koch, A. (2014) 'The Politics and Discourse of Migrant Return: The Role of UNHCR and IOM in the Governance of Return', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 40(6), pp. 905–923. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2013.855073.

Kucukcan, T. (2022) 'Türkiye's Migration Experience and Policy Orientations', *Studia Europejskie - Studies in European Affairs*, 26(3), pp. 175–193.

Lemke, T. (2015) *Foucault, Governmentality, and Critique*. New York: Routledge. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315634609.

Levkowitz, J. (2023) Syrian refugees in Turkey watch uneasily as Erdogan warms to Assad - Al-Monitor: Independent, trusted coverage of the Middle East. Available at: https://www.al-monitor.com/originals/2023/01/syrian-refugees-turkey-watch-uneasily-erdogan-warms-assad (Accessed: 10 July 2023).

Long, K. (2013a) *Back to where you once belonged - A historical review of UNHCR policy and practice on refugee repatriation, UNHCR.* Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/media/back-where-you-once-belonged-historical-review-unhcr-policy-and-practice-refugee-repatriation (Accessed: 16 July 2023).

Long, K. (2013b) *The Point of No Return: Refugees, Rights, and Repatriation*. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press.

Macey, H. (2022) "Safe zones": A protective alternative to flight or a tool of refugee containment? Clarifying the international legal framework governing access to refugee protection against the backdrop of "safe zones" in conflict-affected contexts', *International Review of the Red Cross* [Preprint]. Available at: http://international-review.icrc.org/articles/safe-zones-a-protective-alternative-to-flight-or-a-tool-of-refugee-containment-919 (Accessed: 28 August 2023).

Memişoğlu, F. and Ilgit, A. (2016) 'Syrian refugees in Turkey: multifaceted challenges, diverse players and ambiguous policies', *Mediterranean Politics*, 22, pp. 1–22. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13629395.2016.1189479.

Mencutek, Z.S. (2021) 'Governing Practices and Strategic Narratives for Syrian Refugee Returns', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 34(3), pp. 2804–2826. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/feaa121.

Mencutek, Z.S. (2022) 'The Institutionalization of "Voluntary" Returns in Turkey', *Migration and Society*, 5(1), pp. 43–58. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3167/arms.2022.050105.

MFA (2023a) Dışişleri Bakanı Sayın Mevlüt Çavuşoğlu'nun NTV'ye Verdiği Özel Röportaj, 3 Mayıs 2023 / T.C. Dışişleri Bakanlığı. Available at: https://www.mfa.gov.tr/disisleri-bakani-sayin-mevlut-cavusoglu-nun-ntv-ye-verdigi-ozel-roportaj-3-5-2023.tr.mfa (Accessed: 25 July 2023).

MFA (2023b) Relations between Türkiye—Syria / Republic of Türkiye Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Available at: https://www.mfa.gov.tr/relations-between-turkiye%E2%80%93syria.en.mfa (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Michaelson, R. (2022) 'Turkish and Syrian defence and security officials meet for first time in a decade', *The Guardian*, 29 December. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2022/dec/29/turkish-and-syrian-defence-and-security-officials-meet-for-first-time-in-decade (Accessed: 10 July 2023).

Nebehay, S. (2017) 'U.N. warns of new Syrian refugee wave to Europe if aid dries up', *Reuters*, 12 December. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-mideast-crisis-syria-un-refugees-idUSKBN1E629V (Accessed: 1 June 2023).

Nielsen, S.Y. (2016) *Perceptions between Syrian Refugees and Their Host Community, Turkish Policy Quarterly*. Available at: http://turkishpolicy.com/article/832/perceptions-between-syrian-refugees-and-their-host-community (Accessed: 20 August 2023).

Norwegian Refugee Council *et al.* (2018) 'Dangerous ground - Syria's refugees face an uncertain future', *NRC* [Preprint]. Available at: https://www.nrc.no/dangerous-ground---syrias-refugees-face-an-uncertain-future (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

Nyers, P. (2003) 'Abject Cosmopolitanism: the politics of protection in the anti-deportation movement', *Third world quarterly*, 24(6), pp. 1069–1093. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/01436590310001630071.

OAU (1969) OAU Convention Governing the Specific Aspects of Refugee Problems in Africa, adopted by the Assembly of Heads of State and Government at its Sixth Ordinary Session, Addis-Ababa, 10 September 1969, UNHCR. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/media/oau-convention-governing-specific-aspects-refugee-problems-africa-adopted-assembly-heads (Accessed: 16 July 2023).

Paoletti, E. (2010) 'Deportation, non-deportability and ideas of membership', *RSC Working Paper Series*, 65. Available at: https://www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/publications/deportation-non-deportability-and-ideas-of-membership (Accessed: 6 July 2023).

Pearson, E. (2021) 'From Voluntary Repatriation to Voluntary Re-Establishment: Cessation of Refugee Status under Article 1C(4) of the Refugee Convention', *International Journal of Refugee Law*, 33(3), pp. 436–468. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/ijrl/eeab047.

PMM (2021) *Bayramlaşma İzni Hakkında*. Available at: https://gaziantep.goc.gov.tr/bayramlasma-izni-hakkında (Accessed: 10 June 2023).

PMM (2022a) *Mahalle Kapatma Duyurusu hk.* Available at: https://www.goc.gov.tr/mahalle-kapatma-duyurusu-hk2 (Accessed: 15 July 2023).

PMM (2022b) *On Üçüncü Göç Kurulu Toplantısı İçişleri Bakanımız Süleyman SOYLU Başkanlığında Gerçekleştirildi*. Available at: https://www.goc.gov.tr/on-ucuncu-goc-kurulu-toplantisi-icisleri-bakanimiz-suleyman-soylu-baskanliginda-gerceklestirildi (Accessed: 14 August 2023).

PMM (2022c) 'Response from the President of Migration Management, November 17, 2022'. Available at: https://www.hrw.org/sites/default/files/media_2022/11/PMM%20response%20letter.pdf.

PMM (2023a) *Gönüllü Geri Dönüş*. Available at: https://www.goc.gov.tr/gonullu-geri-donus (Accessed: 18 July 2023).

PMM (2023b) Resettlement and Voluntary Return Department. Available at: https://www.goc.gov.tr/yeniden-yerlestirme-ve-gonullu-geri-donus-daire-baskani (Accessed: 22 August 2023).

PMM (2023c) *TEMPORARY PROTECTION*, *Turkish Presidency of Migration Management*. Available at: https://en.goc.gov.tr/temporary-protection27 (Accessed: 20 June 2023).

Roach, T. (2009) 'Sense and Sexuality: Foucault, Wojnarowicz, and Biopower', *Nebula: A Journal of Multidisciplinary Scholarship* [Preprint]. Available at: https://digitalcommons.bryant.edu/eng_jou/23.

Rogers, A., Castree, N. and Kitchin, and R. (2013) *A Dictionary of Human Geography*. Oxford, New York: Oxford University Press (Oxford Quick Reference).

Rottmann, S. and Kaya, A. (2021) "We can't integrate in Europe. We will pay a high price if we go there": Culture, Time and Migration Aspirations for Syrian Refugees in Istanbul', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 34(1), pp. 474–490. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/feaa018.

SACD (2022) 'What needs to happen before voluntary, safe and dignified return to Syria is possible?', *Syrian Association for Citizens' Dignity*, 8 May. Available at: https://syacd.org/what-needs-to-happen-before-voluntary-safe-and-dignified-return-to-syria-is-possible/ (Accessed: 18 July 2023).

Şahin-Mencütek, Z. *et al.* (2023) 'Protection', in Z. Şahin-Mencütek et al. (eds) *Syrian Refugees in Turkey: Between Reception and Integration*. Cham: Springer International Publishing (IMISCOE Research Series), pp. 97–126. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-27366-7_4.

Schuringa, C.H. (2016) 'Turkey and Its Call for a Safe Area in Syria', *Uppsala: Uppsala Universitet*. [Preprint].

Secen, S. (2021) 'Explaining the Politics of Security: Syrian Refugees in Turkey and Lebanon', *Journal of Global Security Studies*, 6(3), p. ogaa039. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jogss/ogaa039.

Seibert, T. (2018) *Turkey steps up efforts to send Syrian refugees home | Thomas Seibert, AW*. Available at: https://thearabweekly.com/turkey-steps-efforts-send-syrian-refugees-home (Accessed: 20 July 2023).

Shaheen, K. (2016) 'Turkey sends tanks into Syria in operation aimed at Isis and Kurds', *The Guardian*, 24 August. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/aug/24/turkey-launches-major-operation-against-isis-in-key-border-town (Accessed: 19 July 2023).

Srinivasan, K., Kasturirangan, R. and Driessen, C. (2020) 'Biopolitics', in *International Encyclopedia of Human Geography*. Elsevier, pp. 339–345. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102295-5.10777-2.

Sullivan, D.P. (2019) 'Shared obstacles to return: Rohingya and South Sudanese | Forced Migration Review'. Available at: https://www.fmreview.org/return/sullivan (Accessed: 17 July 2023).

Ticktin, M. (2006) 'Where Ethics and Politics Meet: The Violence of Humanitarianism in France', *American Ethnologist*, 33(1), pp. 33–49.

TRP (2014) *Turkey: Temporary Protection Regulation*. Available at: https://www.refworld.org/docid/56572fd74.html (Accessed: 4 June 2023).

Turan, G. (2021) 'Safe Area Theory and Practice: Security for Civilians or Creating New States of Exception during Humanitarian Crises?', *The Turkish Yearbook of International Relations*, 52, pp. 37–60.

Tyler, I. (2006) 'Welcome to Britain: The Cultural Politics of Asylum.', *European Journal of Cultural Studies*, 9(2), pp. 185–202.

UNHCR (1996) *Handbook on Voluntary Repatriation: International Protection*, *UNHCR UK*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/uk/media/handbook-voluntary-repatriation-international-protection (Accessed: 1 July 2023).

UNHCR (2005) Compilation of conclusions adopted by the Executive Committee on the international protection of refugees: 1975 - 2004 (Conclusion No. 1 - 101), UNHCR. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/media/compilation-conclusions-adopted-executive-committee-international-protection-refugees-1975 (Accessed: 16 July 2023).

UNHCR (2017) Frequently Asked Questions About Syrian Refugees in Turkey, UNHCR Türkiye. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/en/12533-frequently-asked-questions-about-syrian-refugees-inturkey.html (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

UNHCR (2018) Comprehensive Protection and Solutions Strategy: Protection Thresholds and Parameters for Refugee Return to Syria, UNHCR Operational Data Portal (ODP). Available at: https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/details/63223 (Accessed: 29 August 2023).

UNHCR (2019) *UNHCR - UNHCR Global Trends 2019*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/flagship-reports/globaltrends/globaltrends2019/ (Accessed: 7 July 2023).

UNHCR (2023a) *Refugee Coordination Model (RCM)*, *UNHCR*. Available at: https://emergency.unhcr.org/coordination-and-communication/refugee-coordination-model/refugee-coordination-model-rcm (Accessed: 1 September 2023).

UNHCR (2023b) *Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Turkey, UNHCR Türkiye.* Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/en/refugees-and-asylum-seekers-in-turkey (Accessed: 4 August 2023).

UNHCR (2023c) *Syria situation*, *Global Focus*. Available at: https://reporting.unhcr.org/operational/situations/syria-situation (Accessed: 12 August 2023).

UNHCR (2023d) *UNHCR in Türkiye*, *UNHCR Türkiye*. Available at: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/en/unhcr-in-turkey (Accessed: 2 August 2023).

Van Hear, N. and Crisp, J. (1998) 'Refugee Protection and Immigration Control: Addressing the Asylum Dilemma', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 17(3), pp. 1–27.

Yahya, M. (2017) 'Blaming the Victims', *Carnegie Middle East Center*. Available at: https://carnegie-mec.org/diwan/72680 (Accessed: 11 July 2023).

Yahya, M., Kassir, J. and El-Hariri, K. (2018) *Unheard Voices: What Syrian Refugees Need to Return Home*, *Carnegie Middle East Center*. Available at: https://carnegie-mec.org/2018/04/16/unheard-voices-what-syrian-refugees-need-to-return-home-pub-76050 (Accessed: 1 June 2023).

Yanaşmayan, Z., Üstübici, A. and Kaşlı, Z. (2019) 'Under the shadow of civilizationist populist discourses: Political debates on refugees in Turkey', in. Available at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Under-the-shadow-of-civilizationist-populist-%3A-on-Yana%C5%9Fmayan-%C3%9Cst%C3%BCbici/f32074f9812849e477832f62c284fecc2215a189 (Accessed: 20 July 2023).

Yanow, D. (2000) *Conducting Interpretive Policy Analysis*. SAGE Publications, Inc. Available at: https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412983747.

Yavuz, E. (2021) 'Surging Anti-Refugee Sentiments in Turkey and Its Implications for Turkish Foreign Policy Strategy in Afghanistan', 9 October. Available at: https://manaramagazine.org/2021/10/anti-refugee-turkey-afghanistan/ (Accessed: 30 July 2023).

Zetter, R. (2021) 'Refugees and Their Return Home: Unsettling Matters*', *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 34(1), pp. 7–22. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/feab005.

Zieck, M. (2004) 'Voluntary Repatriation: Paradigm, Pitfalls, Progress', *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 23(3), pp. 33–54. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/rsq/23.3.33.